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INTRODUCTION


Before the outbreak of the Second World War, the Conservative MP Winston Churchill was regarded as a maverick politician past his prime with a reputation as a political opportunist that he had earnt by changing parties from the Conservatives to the Liberals – a man not to be trusted. As Home Secretary in 1911, Churchill had called out the Army to restore order as coal miners rioted in Tonypandy in Wales which also made him a lifelong enemy of the socialists and trade unions. Churchill was a member of the English aristocracy and stoutly defended the retention of the British Empire, opposing any form of independence for India. His military career had been greatly tarnished by the catastrophe of the poorly planned Gallipoli campaign of the First World War. At the end of that conflict and despite the British being heartily sick of the bloodshed, Churchill, having resumed his political career in 1917, enthusiastically supported the White Russians while the Secretary of State for War by sending British troops to Russia. This was a determined effort to destroy the infant Bolshevik regime of Lenin which Churchill regarded as a threat to the old establishments that ruled the world.


With the recent centenary of the First World War and renewed interest in the Second World War, Churchill today is regarded as one of the greatest leaders and politicians that Britain has ever had in its 2,000-year history. He stands alongside legends such as King Arthur and royal leaders such as Henry VIII and Elizabeth I who fought to save Britain in the hour of its greatest danger of invasion. Churchill has even been called the greatest human being ever to occupy No.10 Downing Street by one biographer.1


The popular image that endures to this day is of Churchill when he was appointed Prime Minister in 1940 – a rotund figure in a bowler hat, bow tie, coat and tails and trademark fat cigar in his mouth or hand, strolling through the streets of Whitehall. Churchill is equally renowned for the famous V for Victory gesture adapted from the two-fingered salute of the bowmen of Agincourt that came to symbolise the strength and will of the British people to resist, survive and go on to victory over Germany and the leader of the Nazi Party, Adolf Hitler.


It is indisputable that Churchill’s inspirational speeches and broadcasts, when Britain had little else to fight with and invasion was threatened, roused the nation and convinced his political colleagues that Britain should fight on alone, even after Hitler’s armies had conquered France and dominated most of Europe. Churchill saw that America was the only source of salvation for Britain and gambled that it would enter the war – and won. Churchill also found an unlikely ally in Stalin when Germany invaded Russia, a country which Britain had risked going to go to war with over Finland only a year earlier in 1940.


Churchill worked ceaselessly to build what he called a ‘Grand Alliance’, regularly leaving England to meet with his new allies and to co-ordinate aid and military strategy between them against, firstly, Germany and then Japan. Churchill tried by the force of his personality to develop relationships with Roosevelt and Stalin with varying degrees of success in order to be able to influence strategic decisions.


With the leaders of the United States and Russia, Churchill presided over the redrawing of the frontiers of Europe as the powerful Red Army worked its way westwards, steamrolling all in its path as Germany began to collapse in the last twelve months of the war. Since early 1944, Churchill and some Americans had been alive to the dangers posed by the Russian military machine as political discussions between the Allies regarding the borders and new governments of countries previously occupied by Germany were rendered redundant by the advances of Soviet tanks and infantry. The euphoria following victory over Germany was replaced by concerns about the ambitions of Stalin and his massive army. The British Chiefs of Staff even drew up plans for a possible outbreak of war with the Russians (Operation Unthinkable) and Churchill described to the incoming President Truman how an iron curtain had been drawn across the German front line.2 A year later, in March 1946, Churchill would for the first time publicly describe the limits of Soviet occupation as an ‘iron curtain’ across Europe.3


As a political and inspirational leader, Churchill remains hugely relevant today for the enormous impact he made on the history of the world. Although the Cold War has ended and the Iron Curtain and its component Berlin Wall have now been consigned to history, the boundaries and political systems of most east European countries were settled at the end of the Second World War and remained unchanged until the collapse of communism in 1989 and the break-up of Yugoslavia in the 1990s.


The Second World War gave one last great opportunity to a complex man. Churchill was an adventurer, an aristocrat, an artist, a romantic, a devoted family man and often a brilliant orator. A keen historian and prolific author, Churchill had written more words than anyone at that time on British history and this gave him a unique perspective that helped sustain him in his leadership throughout the war. Given this background and the fact that Churchill was half American himself, it was almost destiny that he should be the man chosen to become leader of Britain in the hour of its greatest need. Churchill was the one person capable of persuading America to enter the war to defeat the territorial hegemony of Hitler’s Nazi Germany by utilising Britain as a military springboard into Europe before it too was forced to surrender.


The war went on for six years, and in its first three years Britain lurched from crisis to crisis, evacuation after evacuation. Thousands of soldiers, sailors and airmen were killed, wounded or taken prisoner, with millions of tons of equipment lost, requiring replacement after each new military setback. Churchill, as the Prime Minister and self-appointed Minister of Defence, was at the centre of the direction of the war and the strategic military decisions taken by the British War Cabinet and the Chiefs of Staff.


As the Prime Minister and the British Commander-in-Chief, any close scrutiny of the success or otherwise of his strategies for the conduct of the war have largely been glossed over by the ultimate Allied victory. Churchill himself famously said, ‘For my part, I consider that it will be found much better by all Parties to leave the past to history, especially as I propose to write that history myself.’4


True to his word, Churchill wrote his six-volume history of the Second World War which, along with the official government histories, remained a standard reference for many years, although historians have long been aware of some discrepancies in Churchill’s version of events. The last two decades have seen greater scrutiny of Churchill by authors such as David Reynolds in his In Command of History.


Historians are often accused of having perfect hindsight while failing to take into account all the relevant factors behind important historical decisions. Certainly only Winston Churchill knew what was in his mind at critical points in the war but enough accounts and observations have been left by the man himself and those working closely with him to be able to understand how and why certain decisions were made. The strategic planning process is an essential part of the functioning of any organisation, be it commercial or government, as is a subsequent review of the outcome or ‘lessons learnt’ following the implementation of those plans. The plans of the British government and its Prime Minister during the Second World War affected many millions of civilians and soldiers around the world and are therefore not exempt from any such scrutiny.


This is a full account of the background to Churchill’s strategic decisions and how their outcomes affected Britain and the progress of the war.




1


CHURCHILL AND BRITAIN PRE-WAR


It was the sombre, weary voice of British Conservative Prime Minister Neville Chamberlain that brought the tidings of war to the British people on 3 September 1939:




This morning the British Ambassador in Berlin handed the German Government a final Note stating that, unless we heard from them by 11 o’clock that they were prepared at once to withdraw their troops from Poland, a state of war would exist between us.


I have to tell you now that no such undertaking has been received, and that consequently this country is at war with Germany.


You can imagine what a bitter blow it is to me that all my long struggle to win peace has failed. Yet I cannot believe that there is anything more or anything different that I could have done and that would have been more successful …





All over the country, those families lucky enough to have a wireless huddled around their sets while the aromas of Sunday roast lunches wafted through the homes of those who could afford them. People were anxious for news to end a national state of tension and foreboding that had persisted since Germany had invaded Poland on 1 September despite the threats by Britain and France to come to the aid of their ally. It had only been just over twenty years since the end of the last war with Germany, a horrendous struggle that lasted four years and had been described as ‘the war to end all wars’. Those who had fought in it and lived, and those who could remember it, looked in speechless horror at each other. Families across the nation now faced once more a threat to their own survival and the potential loss of family members, relatives and friends. Some mothers began to sob quietly, to be comforted by their grim-faced husbands. Across the nation, the eerie quiet was suddenly dispelled by wailing air raid sirens and the people’s fearful mood was replaced by one of terror. Those who already had an air raid shelter or had dug trenches rushed into them for cover, while others ran to the windows to try to see the approaching German planes; everyone scrambled to find their newly issued gas masks. Anti-aircraft crews manned their guns purposely for the first time around London as ground crews struggled to launch their giant silver barrage balloons in time. Fortunately, it was a false alarm but nevertheless provided a harbinger of the war to come.


Despite their fears of war, most people (even those of a religious calling) believed that the declaration of war by Britain was right in the circumstances. The Reverend Dabill:




I have always been a pacifist and have laboured incessantly for peace but there seems to be no alternative. I would rather have war with its vast threat to the future than we should go back on our promise to Poland. There is not room in the same world for our way and the Nazi way. One or the other has to go.1





War had nearly come in 1938 when Germany had threatened Czechoslovakia and had only been averted by Chamberlain’s last-minute negotiations in Munich with Adolf Hitler. On Chamberlain’s return to England, hundreds of people had gathered at Croydon airport to spontaneously express their relief to the Prime Minister who famously waved a document signed by Germany and declared ‘peace in our time’.


Following the ascendancy of Hitler to power in Germany on 30 January 1933, Germany had begun systematically flaunting the limitations of the Treaty of Versailles imposed on it after the First World War. This took the form of a massive rearmament programme from March 1935 to both build up the armed forces and stimulate German industry after the disastrous effects of the Great Depression. Emboldened by the lack of an Allied response to these violations, Germany set about taking back the territories of the old Austro-Hungarian Empire taken away from it in 1919.


These events in Europe were watched from the United States of America by Franklin D. Roosevelt, who had been elected President on 4 March 1933. Roosevelt defeated the incumbent Republican President Herbert Hoover and was elected after pledging a ‘New Deal’ for an America suffering acutely in the Great Depression. Despite being strongly focussed on restarting the national economy and creating employment, Roosevelt was not removed from international politics. While Winston Churchill’s warnings during the 1930s about German territorial ambitions are well known, Roosevelt’s interest and actions in international politics are not so apparent in a country that prided itself on its isolationism and a stance of non-intervention in the 1920s and 1930s after the United States had become involved in the last year of the First World War.


As early as May 1933, Roosevelt had outlined his proposed programme of world security and disarmament, which was endorsed by Hitler, but both Germany and Japan subsequently left the League of Nations that year. In 1934, Roosevelt made a declaration at the Geneva disarmament conference appealing for global disarmament, for member countries to adhere to current treaty obligations and asking that no country should send troops across its own borders. In an address to the closing session of the Geneva conference, the US delegation declared, ‘In effect, the policy of the United States is to keep out of war, but to help in every possible way to discourage war.’2


The Great Depression of the early 1930s posed many challenges for the industrialised nations of the world, both domestically and in their international relations. With the rise to power of Hitler, some countries, especially France, were concerned by Germany’s new agenda, while on the other side of the world a war was in progress between Japan and China. Japan, a mountainous series of islands with few natural resources, had wanted to make up for lost time compared with the European powers in becoming a colonial power. This expansion started with the seizure of Manchuria in September 1931. In response to this Japanese aggression, Roosevelt approved an increase in budget funding for new US Navy ships in 1934 on the basis that warships took a long time to construct and that a US Navy fleet would eventually be likely to come into conflict with Japan in the Pacific Ocean. Roosevelt also asked Edgar Hoover at the FBI to investigate all possible Nazis and their sympathisers in the United States.


In the years 1935 to 1939, the US Congress passed four Neutrality Acts, the last three altering the conditions and duration of the original Act of August 1935 which was designed to keep the United States out of a possible European war by banning the shipment of armaments to belligerents. The demand for this legislation arose from the belief of many Americans that the entry of the US into the First World War had been a mistake. Japan subsequently withdrew from the Washington naval treaty in December 1934, claiming it was biased against Japan. When Italy invaded Abyssinia in 1935, Roosevelt invoked the 1935 Neutrality Act recently passed by Congress and banned the sales of arms to both belligerent countries. Such was the Democratic Party’s majority in Congress that the Neutrality Act gave the President the necessary powers to invoke the Act without having to refer to Congress.


Having denounced the Treaty of Versailles as unjust and announced the introduction of conscription and a rearmament programme in March 1935, Hitler declared two months later that he was ‘for peace’ and would abide by the Treaty of Locarno, provided other nations did the same. His Foreign Minister, von Neurath, signalled to European diplomats Germany’s intention to reoccupy the demilitarised Rhineland bordering France in order to gauge their likely reaction. The justification given by von Neurath was that it was in response to a Soviet–French pact which Germany saw as a violation of the Locarno Treaty. The British were not unsympathetic to Germany’s position and had planned to begin discussions with Germany in order to reach a general negotiated settlement to resolve many of Germany’s territorial issues and grievances. In mid 1935, Britain and Germany had signed a Naval Agreement which restricted Germany’s navy to a third the size of Britain’s. While favourable to Britain, this treaty actually undid all the naval restrictions of Versailles and permitted the Germans to start a massive shipbuilding programme which included submarines. France was not consulted and strong protests by Winston Churchill in the House of Commons were ignored. Churchill also pointed out that a resurgent German Navy would compel Britain to keep a large part of its fleet in the North Sea, which would limit the Royal Navy’s capacity to counter any Japanese moves in the Pacific.3


On 7 March 1936, a token German force reoccupied the Rhineland. The British did not formally protest (the view was in fact taken by Lord Lothian, the future British Ambassador to the United States, that Germany was reoccupying its backyard) while the French government, which was going through its own financial and political crisis, decided not to mobilise its troops in view of the expense of such an operation. The Germans had been instructed to withdraw in the event of any opposition but none came; nevertheless Hitler is reported to have said:




The forty-eight hours after the march into the Rhineland were the most nerve-racking in my life. If the French had then marched into the Rhineland we would have had to withdraw with our tails between our legs, for the military resources at our disposal would have been wholly inadequate for even a moderate resistance.4





It is notable that the German General Staff were aghast at this blatant act of brinkmanship by Hitler as the German forces were totally unprepared for war. In order to gain combat experience with their newly developed aircraft and tanks, the German Luftwaffe (the Condor Legion) and two armoured units had become involved in the Spanish Civil War on the side of the Nationalist leader, General Franco, to ensure that Franco emerged victorious. A communist or socialist Spain or France would have presented a threat to Germany in Western Europe. England, France and the United States officially refused to support the opposition Republicans but this did not stop volunteers travelling to Spain to fight for them. American companies did, however, continue to sell trucks and oil to Franco until this loophole was closed by Roosevelt with the revised Neutrality Act of January 1937.


The reoccupation of the Rhineland came as no surprise to Churchill, who had foreseen this eventuality and had warned of the dangers of Germany’s rearmament and territorial ambitions for many years from the Conservative Party back benches. Churchill had resumed his political career after his stint in the trenches in 1916 but this had been largely unsuccessful. Following the ascension of David Lloyd George as Prime Minister in December 1916, he had been appointed Minister of Munitions in July 1917. After becoming Secretary of State for War in January 1919, Churchill was instrumental in the next few years in the despatch of British troops to Russia and arms to Poland in an effort to prevent the rise of Bolshevism. Losing his seat in the general election of 1922, such was Churchill’s feeling against the socialism of the new Labour Party that he re-joined the Conservatives and was duly elected in 1924 as the MP for Epping in Stanley Baldwin’s government, being made Chancellor of the Exchequer. Churchill served in this position for five years and presided over Britain’s disastrous return to the Gold Standard, which caused deflation, widespread unemployment and industrial unrest that started with the coal miners and culminated in the General Strike of 1926. The Conservative Party was defeated in the general election of 1929 and although Churchill retained his seat he was not offered any senior positions in either the Conservative Party or the National Government formed by Ramsay McDonald in 1931, which left plenty of time for Churchill to write and tour overseas.


To many commentators, however, Churchill was a spent force and increasingly irrelevant. For nearly two years from the spring of 1933, Churchill had doggedly peddled his views on India to the few Conservative MPs left after the election, alienating many in his own party and diminishing his standing in the House of Commons as a whole. Churchill refused to countenance India being granted the status of a dominion or even limited independence. From 1935 onwards, Churchill subjected firstly his own re-elected Conservative government under Baldwin and then the Chamberlain government to a barrage of memoranda, questions and amendments from the back bench, most concerned with the dangers of the rise to power of Hitler in Germany and German rearmament compared with the paltry state of the British armed forces, which had been only slowly rearming since 1934. Churchill described himself as the voice in the wilderness, warning against Hitler and his National Socialism.


After the reoccupation of the Rhineland, Churchill warned on 16 March in the House of Commons:




… here is the Fuehrer, the great leader of the country, who has raised his country so high – and I honour him for that – able to bring home once again a trophy. One year it is the Saar, another month the right of Germany to conscription, another month to gain from Britain the right to build submarines, another month the Rhineland. Where will it be next? Austria, Memel, other territories and disturbed areas are already in view …


We cannot look back with much pleasure on our foreign policy in the last five years. They have been disastrous years …


We have seen the most depressing and alarming changes in the outlook of mankind which have ever taken place is so short a period of time. Five years ago all felt safe … The difference in our position now! We find ourselves compelled once again to face the hateful problems and ordeals which those of us who worked and toiled in the last great struggle hoped were gone for ever.5





Churchill worked hard behind the scenes to cultivate a network of contacts and political friends in England and abroad during this time. However, he severely undermined these moves and his reputation with ill-judged support for Edward VIII and Mrs Simpson in a hostile Parliament on 8 December 1936.


The German reoccupation of the Rhineland, the Japanese invasion of China and Italian aggression in Abyssinia led to Roosevelt making a speech in October 1937 regarding the need to economically quarantine aggressor nations. This speech, which reflected a change in position from that of the Geneva disarmament conference three years previously, was not well received domestically in the United States and in certain newspapers. Unlike Churchill, who was on the political sidelines, Roosevelt was able take action by passing legislation such as the Neutrality Acts and make plans in anticipation of future conflicts such as expanding the US Navy’s shipbuilding programme. It is clear that Roosevelt, from early in his presidency, identified an ‘axis of evil’ that existed between Germany, Italy and Japan. His suspicions were no doubt confirmed by the November 1936 Anti-Comintern Pact between Germany and Japan which Italy joined a year later.


Following years of agitation and interference in Austrian affairs by Germany and the Austrian Nazi Party for a union or ‘Anschluss’ with Germany, the Austrian Chancellor, Schussnigg, ordered that a referendum be held. Rather than waiting for any unfavourable results, Hitler demanded that all government positions of power be given to members of the Nazi Party under its leader, Seyss-Inquart. Schussnigg resigned and Seyss-Inquart promptly invited the Germans to come and restore order, which they did the next day, 12 March 1938. Hitler followed his Army into Austria and was met by jubilant crowds everywhere; in Vienna three days later, Austria was declared a part of Germany. There was little reaction from Britain and France.


The unopposed union with Austria provided the incentive for Hitler to attempt to reunite other German people living in the new modern nation of Czechoslovakia, which had been created after the First World War. In the north of the country in the Sudetenland was a sizeable German population which had been agitating since 1934 for an autonomous region with the formation of a German Home Front Party. Stories of alleged atrocities against the Sudeten Germans were broadcast by Nazi propaganda whilst Hitler publicly intimidated the Czech President, Dr Benes.


The day after the occupation of Austria, Churchill predicted the next German threat would be towards Czechoslovakia:




To English ears, the name of Czechoslovakia sounds outlandish. No doubt they are only a small democratic State, no doubt they have an army only two or three times as large as ours, no doubt they have a munitions supply only three times as great as that of Italy, but still they are a virile people, they have their rights, they have their treaty rights, they have a fine line of fortresses, and they have a strongly manifested will to live, a will to live freely.


Czechoslovakia is at this moment isolated, both in the economic and in the military sense. Her trade outlet through Hamburg, which is based upon the Peace Treaty, can, of course, be closed at any moment. Now her communications by rail and river to the South, and after the South to the South-East, are liable to be severed at any moment. Her trade may be subjected to tolls of a destructive character, of an absolutely strangling character.6





Britain and France were largely apathetic and certainly did not want war. Chamberlain flew to meet Hitler twice in September but Britain and France decided that Benes had no alternative but to accede to German demands. At the second meeting, Hitler informed Chamberlain (much to his frustration) that other territories belonging to Hungary and Poland should also be returned to Germany. Hitler gave an ultimatum to Czechoslovakia that unless all his demands were met by 2 p.m. on 28 September, Germany would invade on 1 October. The deadline came and went. Chamberlain then proposed another meeting in Munich on 29 September to which Czechoslovakia was not even invited, and Britain and France again acceded to Germany’s demands. Benes immediately resigned on hearing of the agreement and on 1 October German troops entered the Sudetenland.


Given Churchill’s public warnings of events that had become reality, the Czechoslovakian issue saw him being invited to participate in informal meetings with the Foreign Secretary, Lord Halifax, and Chamberlain. However, while both listened to Churchill, neither took his advice, which was to threaten Germany with immediate war if it entered Czechoslovakia. In a speech of 5 October in Parliament during a motion to approve the policy adopted by Chamberlain at Munich, Churchill expressed his view that Czechoslovakia could have negotiated a better solution without the intervention of Britain and France, much to the embarrassment of his own party and Chamberlain, who was still basking in post-Munich approbation:




I will begin by saying what everybody would like to ignore or forget but which must nevertheless be stated, namely, that we have sustained a total and unmitigated defeat, and that France has suffered even more than we have …


… All is over. Silent, mournful, abandoned, broken, Czechoslovakia recedes into the darkness. She has suffered in every respect by her association with the Western democracies and with the League of Nations, of which she has always been an obedient servant. She has suffered in particular from her association with France, under whose guidance and policy she has been actuated for so long. The very measures taken by His Majesty’s Government in the Anglo-French Agreement to give her the best chance possible, namely, the 50% clean cut in certain districts instead of a plebiscite, have turned to her detriment, because there is to be a plebiscite too in wider areas, and those other Powers who had claims have also come down upon the helpless victim.


… I venture to think that in future the Czechoslovak State cannot be maintained as an independent entity. You will find that in a period of time which may be measured by years, but may be measured only by months, Czechoslovakia will be engulfed in the Nazi regime. Perhaps they may join it in despair or in revenge. At any rate, that story is over and told. But we cannot consider the abandonment and ruin of Czechoslovakia in the light only of what happened only last month. It is the most grievous consequence which we have yet experienced of what we have done and of what we have left undone in the last five years – five years of futile good intention, five years of eager search for the line of least resistance, five years of uninterrupted retreat of British power, five years of neglect of our air defences. Those are the features which I stand here to declare and which marked an improvident stewardship for which Great Britain and France have dearly to pay.7





Following this speech, relations between Churchill and Chamberlain deteriorated considerably and a mysterious campaign began in Churchill’s own constituency of Epping to have him deselected as an MP. With the occupation of the rest of Czechoslovakia in March 1939 and the Italian invasion of Abyssinia in April 1939, Churchill felt vindicated enough to resume writing to government ministers again, including Chamberlain. As the sound of war drums got nearer, Churchill’s salvoes of advice to Ministers gained intensity, as did a campaign by some newspapers for Churchill to be given a Cabinet position.


That winter, Hitler exploited the differences between the Czechs and Slovaks, further ratcheting up tensions in the country. Encouraged by Hitler, the Slovaks declared an autonomous state on 14 March 1939 and the next day German troops occupied the remaining Czech provinces of Bohemia and Moravia; Slovakia then promptly surrendered its 2-day-old independence to become a protectorate of Germany. Thus the fledgling state of Czechoslovakia ceased to exist, dismembered not only by Germany but also Poland and Hungary, which also seized territory; these events were exactly as foreseen by Churchill.


Even Chamberlain could no longer ignore German territorial ambitions and belatedly realised that Hitler’s word and promises meant nothing. British public opinion began to swing against Hitler following the dissection of Czechoslovakia. Knowing that the last territorial ‘injustice’ inflicted on Germany by the Treaty of Versailles was in Poland, on 31 March Britain and France offered Poland and Rumania a guarantee of safety which was also extended to Greece and Turkey. In the Treaty of Versailles, Poland had been granted a land corridor to the Baltic Sea near Danzig which had isolated East Prussia from the rest of Germany and given Poland the German states of Posen, West Prussia and Upper Silesia. The city of Danzig had been made a free city. Hitler wanted all these German states returned and was determined to pursue his territorial ambitions in the east. Poland would provide large extra areas for agriculture, slave labour and access to the lands further east – the ‘lebensraum’ that Hitler had dreamt of for Germany in his book Mein Kampf. Poland had been partitioned several times in the eighteenth century and immediately after the First World War, in a short war with Russia, it had managed to extend its eastern boundary into the Russian Ukraine as well as incorporating Lithuania.


Following the guarantees by Britain and France to Poland, a round of frantic diplomacy began in Europe. Germany tried to isolate Poland and eventually formed the Pact of Steel with Italy on 22 May 1938. Russia, irritated by British guarantees to Poland that it believed were impossible for it to honour, also began negotiating with Britain and France, who concluded pacts with Rumania, Greece and Turkey. Just as the protagonists in the First World War had roped themselves together by a series of treaties and alliances before the outbreak of war so that when one member slipped and fell the others were dragged into the conflict, so did the same countries seek to tie themselves together after the Munich crisis, hoping for peace, deterrence and security.


The most significant outcome of this diplomatic activity was the German–Soviet non-aggression pact of 23 August 1939, which came like a bombshell to the international diplomatic community and left-wing communist sympathisers around the world, particularly a certain group of Cambridge undergraduates. Britain and France were left floundering in their negotiations with Russia, while Japan actually recalled its Ambassador from Germany as Japan at that time was fighting a losing battle on the Manchurian–Mongolian border against Soviet and Mongolian troops at Khalkhin Gol. Meanwhile, other flashpoints were developing around the world. Italy had invaded Albania in April 1939 and the British settlement at Tientsin in China had been blockaded by Japan, which itself had been involved in a renewed conflict with China since July 1937 following the Japanese provocation at the Marco Polo Bridge near Peking. In Poland, members of the local Nazi Party in Danzig continued to manufacture ‘incidents’ with Polish customs officers at the borders of the city.


Roosevelt’s views, privately at least, on the aggressive behaviour of certain countries threatening peace very closely mirrored those of Churchill’s, yet the two men had very little contact before the war, despite each knowing of the other. Theodore Roosevelt’s father had written to his son in 1908 and described Randolph Churchill as ‘sharp’ and Winston as a ‘cheap character’ – observations that Theodore as President may well have passed on to his cousin, Franklin. The two men did meet at a dinner in 1918 in London when Roosevelt was Assistant Secretary of the Navy and Churchill apparently snubbed Roosevelt, who later referred to Churchill as a ‘stinker’.8 Roosevelt was then too busy to see Churchill eleven years later during a private trip to New York by Churchill after Roosevelt had been newly elected as Governor. However, Roosevelt’s son did stay for a while at Churchill’s Chartwell residence and Churchill had written several newspaper articles praising Roosevelt’s efforts to stimulate the American economy. In 1933, Churchill sent Roosevelt a copy of his first volume on the Duke of Marlborough in an opening gambit. Churchill’s constant blasts against appeasement in Parliament were reported throughout the world in newspapers and radio broadcasts, and some of his lectures were even broadcast in their entirety on America radio, so Roosevelt was familiar with Churchill’s politics. Both men had naval backgrounds and had an interest in the intrigues of spies and intelligence work, so they had much in common. Perhaps the far-ranging aspects of deploying naval fleets globally gave both men their strategic insights and vision for waging economic warfare on an enemy by their cutting lines of supply on either land or water.


British Rearmament


There is a popular misconception that Britain did not begin rearming until immediately prior to the outbreak of war. From 1919, British strategic thinking was dominated by the ‘ten-year rule’ (no war for ten years) and concerns about Japanese intentions. The fears about Japan were well founded but at the same time misguided as Japan invaded Manchuria in 1931 and not any part of the British Empire.


The British national budgets before 1933 were made against the background of the Great Depression and necessary cuts to military expenditure. While defence expenditure reached a nadir in 1932, from that point on there were steady increases in the annual budgets, which particularly benefited the RAF and Royal Navy. The rise to power of Hitler was the stimulus for a Defence Review Committee, which in February 1934 recommended that the RAF increase its strength to eighty-four squadrons and the base at Singapore be strengthened. One of the major obstacles to any increase in defence spending was the then Chancellor of the Exchequer, Neville Chamberlain.9


The RAF further benefited from an unintended admission by Hitler that the Luftwaffe had already achieved parity with the RAF in terms of numbers of planes. In a reply to a question in Parliament from Churchill, the government had stated that it had a comfortable margin of numbers over German aircraft and so, with this admission, the government was forced to introduce a new programme of aircraft production on 22 May 1935. This programme was then superseded in February 1936 by Scheme F, which called for 8,000 new aircraft in three years and saw the development of modern monoplanes including the Hurricane (wooden-framed and canvas-covered like biplanes) and the first aluminium plane, the Spitfire. In March 1938, a new programme, Scheme L, was launched for 12,000 aircraft to be built in two years with an emphasis on fighter aircraft and the development of a radar network along the coast of southern England. It should be noted that neither of the previous programmes actually met their targets as production was limited at that time in British factories that were still working on a peacetime footing.


To increase production capacities, government-backed ‘shadow factories’ – privately owned factories which were subsidised by the government – were established, particularly for the manufacture of aircraft and engines. The Royal Navy too suffered from budget restrictions and international naval treaty obligations until 1936, when a new programme of shipbuilding was approved. By 1938 the Royal Navy had an effective tonnage of 2 million tons, almost 25 per cent of which had been added since the level of 1935.10 The Royal Navy acquired five new battleships of the King George V class and modernised existing battleships by varying degrees. Ships such as HMS Renown and HMS Warspite were completely modernised but others such as HMS Hood, HMS Barham and HMS Repulse, as well as the Nelson and Royal Sovereign classes, were not modernised and lacked improvements to horizontal deck armour, fire control systems and machinery. Most importantly, aircraft carriers of the Illustrious class and a series of large cruiser classes were ordered and expedited. Churchill was greatly involved in the Parliamentary debates about increased budgets for the Royal Navy and was keen to express his views on naval strategy in a future conflict. In March 1939, Churchill wrote a memorandum on sea power which he forwarded to many Cabinet ministers including Chamberlain in order to further his ambition of being given a ministerial position. In this memorandum, Churchill declared that the threat from submarines had been neutralised and that aircraft would not prevent modern warships from exercising their sea power. Churchill also indicated that the most vital sea battle would be that fought in the Mediterranean against the Italian Navy to keep the sea lanes to the Suez Canal open and that the Japanese were unlikely to attack the fortress of Singapore.11


Churchill also expressed his views on modern warfare in published articles he wrote for the News of the World in April 1938 and Colliers magazine in January 1939. In the former article, Churchill derided the future of tanks: ‘The tank has no doubt a great part to play; but I, personally, doubt very much whether it will ever see again the palmy days of 1918.’12 Churchill believed that in the technological battle between tanks and anti-tank guns, advances in the firepower of anti-tank guns and rifles would overcome the armoured skins of the tanks.13


In Colliers magazine, Churchill declared that following recent improvements in anti-aircraft armament:




Even a single well-armed vessel will hold its own against aircraft; still more a squadron or a fleet of modern warships, whether at sea or in harbour, will be able to endure aerial attack.14





In the same article, entitled ‘Let the Tyrant Criminals Bomb’ in reference to Hitler and Mussolini, Churchill wrote that attempts to terrorise civilian populations by mass bombing would only encourage the spirit of resistance and ‘fury’ among the people.


The British Army was considerably neglected compared with the other two services and has been aptly described as the ‘Cinderella’ service. In 1933, the Army consisted of five regular and twelve Territorial divisions and remained at this level until one division was expanded into two armoured divisions and an extra Territorial division created in 1938. The provision of modern anti-aircraft guns for home defence was a major drain on the Army budgets and only modest upgrade programmes were implemented. On 19 April 1939, a thirty-two Army division programme was approved and at the Land Force Committee meeting on 7 September, after the declarations of war, Churchill argued successfully for an Army of at least fifty-five divisions. This was duly incorporated into a Land Forces Committee report approved by the Cabinet on 9 September.15 This target was to be met within two years (twenty divisions in the first twelve months) with the dominions’ assistance in supplying the necessary formations.


For the inhabitants of Britain, preparations for what now seemed like an inevitable war after the failure of the Munich talks to save Czechoslovakia began in earnest with the issuing of gas masks to every person in early 1939. Families queued up at local town halls to receive the appropriate adult, toddler or baby masks. Images at the cinema of the destruction wrought by the German Luftwaffe in the Spanish Civil War instilled a fear of German bombing into many people – a fear also cultivated by a government publicity campaign. From the occupation of Czechoslovakia and the outbreak of war, nearly 1.5 million Anderson air raid shelters were issued to households with a garden. These were at no charge if the household income was less than £5 a week; otherwise there was a charge of £7. The Anderson shelters were made of corrugated iron and were installed in a rectangular hole 4ft deep dug in the garden. People equipped them with what comforts they could in the form of temporary beds and lamps but in winter they were particularly cold and damp. Neighbours sometimes competed with each other to disguise the appearance of the shelters by covering them with banks of earth for extra protection and planting flowers or vegetables on top of them or nearby.


Germany had a false start in its invasion of Poland when on 25 August German troops were mobilised but Italy suddenly declared itself unready for war without further massive German supplies. After hasty German and Italian discussions, at 4.45 a.m. on 1 September 1939, German troops entered Poland after fabricating a border incident and two days later Britain and France declared war on Germany.


The German refusal to heed the British and French ultimatums regarding Poland came as no surprise to Churchill, whose stance and warnings of German aggression had been completely vindicated. Chamberlain, having been proven utterly wrong about German intentions and given the pro-Churchill sentiments in some quarters of the press, had no option but to offer Churchill an unspecified position in the War Cabinet on the day Germany entered Poland. On 3 September after the British declaration of war, Chamberlain met briefly with Churchill again. Afterwards, Churchill got into the back of the car where his wife, Clementine, was anxiously waiting.


‘It’s the Admiralty,’ he said, adding with a pleased chuckle, ‘That’s a lot better than I thought.’16




2


THE PHONEY WAR AND NORWEGIAN OVERTURE


The day after Germany invaded Poland, the evacuation of children and mothers with babies began from the all the major cities in England. Some families were reluctant to send their children away in the unfortunately named Operation Pied Piper, and by the end of the month only half the designated children had been evacuated. A total of 827,000 children between the ages of 5 and 14 and 524,000 mothers and children under school age were eventually billeted out with foster parents or in lodgings, the government paying 10s 6d to each billetor for the first child and a further 8s 6d for subsequent children.1 A total of nearly 1.4 million people were evacuated and relocated in the first week of the war.2


The billeting experience was often a cultural shock for both parties; billetors were frequently horrified by the lack of hygiene of the children staying with them, who were often treated as unpaid servants. The more fortunate children got to enjoy a higher standard of living than they had in the cities but most naturally missed their family and friends:




We were marched in a crocodile with our gas masks slung round our necks and a label on our coats giving our names and the name of our school to the nearest railway station and we travelled to Paddington station in London to start our journey. Nobody had any idea where we were going and we ate our sandwiches packed by our mothers that morning, and tried to keep quiet and well behaved. Our teachers went from carriage to carriage talking to us and answering questions.


It was about 8pm at night when we arrived at Locking Rd station in Weston-Super-Mare and were again marched to a local school where we sat around in a circle and people came in who had volunteered to take in an evacuee, or two. We were tired, hungry and rather lost and I remember I was one of the last of the children to be picked out and taken away. The better looking and the better clothed certainly went first.3





Following the declaration of war in September, the five regular divisions and five additional territorial divisions were transported to France as the British Expeditionary Force (BEF), which lacked a lot of equipment including anti-aircraft guns. The Royal Ordnance factories were equipped to produce munitions on a large scale when producing at maximum capacity but were initially unable to meet the necessary production targets of munitions and small arms even with the assistance of the newly created ‘shadow’ agency factories.


After his appointment as First Lord of the Admiralty at the meeting with Chamberlain on 3 September, Churchill attended his first War Cabinet at 5 p.m. and then went to the Admiralty where he occupied the very same office he had used in the First World War; the Admiralty had signalled to every ship in the fleet, ‘Winston is back.’ Churchill immediately threw himself into his duties, galvanising his immediate reports and all the staff at the Admiralty. While the first nine months of the Second World War has been described as the Phoney War, it was certainly not for the Royal Navy, which found itself battling U-boats and German warships from the first day of hostilities. On 3 September, the steamship Athenia was sunk by a U-boat with the loss of 112 lives. The merchant ships that normally plied the trade routes carrying Britain’s essential food and raw materials from the Empire and America had to be protected by organising them into more easily defended convoys. The convoy system was a valuable lesson learnt from the First World War and was a priority for Churchill as twenty-eight merchant ships had already been sunk in the first two weeks of the war.4 Churchill ordered as much intelligence as possible on the dispositions of the German warships and submarines to be gathered and plotted on Admiralty charts fixed to the walls. The Royal Navy, for its part, also attacked or tried to capture German merchant ships wherever it could find them in international waters. Churchill also instigated comprehensive reviews of the Navy’s shipbuilding programme, armaments and new technologies, including anti-submarine detection equipment. At that time British warships had not yet been equipped with radar. President Roosevelt also wrote directly to Churchill in October and invited Churchill to stay in touch in what was their first contact of the war. This letter may well have been prompted by a reissue that month of Churchill’s book Great Contemporaries, which contained a largely favourable essay on Roosevelt. This contact with Roosevelt was exactly what Churchill had hoped for when he sent the first volume of his Marlborough biography to Roosevelt in 1933.


Churchill’s position in the War Cabinet gave him access to reports and a voice in the discussions on the prosecution of the whole war, not just naval matters. Following debate about sending British warships into the Baltic Sea and engaging or blockading the German fleet, the importance of Swedish iron ore to German industry and the fabrication of weapons became apparent. Churchill at once seized on the possibility of interrupting or halting altogether the shipment of these raw materials as a way of waging economic warfare on Germany. At the War Cabinet of 19 September, Churchill described how vital the iron ore was to Germany and how German cargo ships remained within the 3-mile territorial waters limit of neutral Norway, from where the Swedish iron ore was shipped in winter. The Royal Navy had put in place a blockade around the Norwegian coast which the German ships were able to evade by steaming within the Norwegian territorial limits. Churchill reminded the War Cabinet that these territorial waters had been mined by the Royal Navy previously in the First World War to stop a similar traffic and there was an urgent need to do this again, despite being in breach of international conventions and Norway’s neutrality. The War Cabinet at this time merely took note of Churchill’s proposal as there were other more pressing matters such as the parlous state of Britain’s air defence systems and the situation in Poland.5 From the start of this new world war, Churchill continuously urged for aggressive action in exactly the same way he had done at the start of the First World War against, for example, Turkey, which had led to the disastrous Dardanelles campaign.


On 4 October, the German campaign in Poland having been successfully concluded, Hitler gave a speech in the Reichstag suggesting that peace negotiations could now take place. However, no concessions were offered while Poland was declared a ‘part of Germany’ and as such was no longer an item for negotiation. The British reply was given by Chamberlain on 12 October in a speech to Parliament which listed Hitler’s broken promises and territorial gains but did not completely close the door on future talks:




The issue is, therefore, plain. Either the German government must give convincing proof of the sincerity of their desire for peace by definite acts and by the provision of effective guarantees of their intention to fulfil their undertakings, or we must persevere in our duty to the end. It is for Germany to make her choice.6





Chamberlain spoke of Britain as not embarking on the war for vindictive purposes but as being the defender of the freedom of nations around the world. For Hitler, this response to his vague overtures was enough to for him to resolve that a negotiated peace in Europe was not possible and that Germany should attack France at the earliest opportunity. While Hitler’s territorial ambitions lay to the east and Russia, he could not countenance a campaign against Russia while there was a hostile nation bordering Germany.


An English housewife summed up this international diplomacy in her diary:




October 13th 1939


According to Berlin, Mr Chamberlain has insulted Hitler, who says ‘now that Britain so obviously wishes to wage war she shall feel the power of Germany’s air, naval and military strength’. It’s all so hateful as no doubt Hitler can justify (and does) his position as absolutely as Mr Chamberlain can justify his.7





An outline plan of attack on France had been prepared by Germany before Hitler’s Reichstag speech but now detailed planning began, again much to the reluctance of the chiefs of the three armed forces. The German rearmament programme then in progress had factored in a major conflict from 1942 onwards and the forces, in particular the German Kriegsmarine, were unprepared. The dates of the attack were repeatedly postponed during November and December due to the Army not being ready after its campaign in Poland and because of bad weather. A build-up of German troops began along the French, Belgian and Dutch borders while the ten divisions of the British Expeditionary Force that had landed in France from 10 September moved up alongside the three French Army groups on opposite sides of the borders. On 10 January 1940, a German plane carrying a staff officer with documents regarding the attack (Case Gelb – Yellow) was forced to crash land in Belgium and the Germans assumed their plans had been exposed. The British War Cabinet was, however, dismissive of this apparent intelligence windfall, regarding it as ‘suspicious’.8 Hitler ordered revisions to Case Gelb along with a deception campaign with the object of making the Allies think the original plan was still being followed.


Churchill took time out from his work at the Admiralty to host dinner parties for various political allies, and this included Chamberlain and his wife on 13 October. Their meal was interrupted three times by a messenger bringing the news of the sinking of a U-boat each time. An astute Mrs Chamberlain commented that if the sinkings went on at the same rate, the war would be soon won. Was it not all invented, she asked? By Churchill’s standards, it was not a late night and he was evidently on his best behaviour. This type of staged incident would be repeated by Churchill later in the war. He later admitted that the reports of the U-boats could not be confirmed and any prestige he may or may not have earnt that evening was quickly dispelled the next morning when news broke of the sinking of the old battleship HMS Royal Oak at anchor in Scapa Flow when the naval base’s anti-submarine defences were boldly penetrated by a U-boat.9


On 5 October 1939, Stalin invited the government of Finland to talks in Moscow. The Russians were particularly concerned about the vulnerability of the city of Leningrad given its close proximity to Finland and made various demands, including the abandonment of the Mannerheim Line fortifications that Finland had constructed opposite Leningrad and the ceding of the peninsula controlling the approaches to the northern Finnish port of Petsamo, which was uncomfortably close to the Russian port of Murmansk on the other side of the peninsula. For neutral Finland, these demands were completely unacceptable and the negotiations unsurprisingly collapsed. On 30 November 1939, Russian troops invaded Finland. Despite being massively outnumbered, the small Finnish Army was well equipped, experienced at fighting in winter conditions and initially resisted the Russian attacks.


Churchill’s standing at the Admiralty and in public opinion received a considerable boost with the sinking of the German raider, Graf Spee. On 13 December 1939, the pocket battleship was spotted and engaged by three British cruisers off the coast of South America. Despite being outgunned, the three cruisers bravely pressed home their attacks and forced the Graf Spee to take refuge in the Uruguayan port of Montevideo. Four days later, after considerable diplomatic intrigue, the Graf Spee was scuttled, its captain believing that a superior British fleet was waiting outside the port. Several South American countries protested to the United States that this naval action had violated the 300-mile safety belt around the United States and South America, which had been declared by Roosevelt at the pan-American conference in October 1939.


The question of stopping the iron ore shipments was never far from Churchill’s mind and in the War Cabinet meetings of 30 November and 10 December he raised it again without any success. Churchill also asked Ambassador Joseph Kennedy to privately sound out Roosevelt’s attitude to the mining of Norway and Churchill duly reported his concurrence to the War Cabinet on 11 December; Roosevelt was just as much in favour of aggressive action as Churchill. That same day, Churchill stated in a note to the War Cabinet that it was in Britain’s interest if Norway and Sweden were forced into a war with Germany: ‘We have more to gain than lose by a German attack upon Norway or Sweden.’10


The possibility was also raised in Churchill’s note that the despatch of British troops to Norway and Sweden would have the additional benefit of being able to control the iron ore trade. Churchill attempted to force a decision for immediate action at the War Cabinet of 22 December but he was overruled by Cabinet concerns about Sweden being alienated by any attempt to land British troops at Narvik. Churchill was not concerned by this, reasoning that if Germany invaded Scandinavia as a result of British landings, then Sweden and Norway would then have to fight and would naturally look to Britain and France for aid. On 31 December, the Chiefs of Staff recommended an operation proceed to occupy Narvik to stop the export of iron ore to Germany as long as the approval of Sweden was forthcoming; it was noted that this operation would be the first British offensive of the war and ‘might well prove decisive’ as there was ‘no prospect of an equal chance being afforded us elsewhere’.11 However, Sweden was determined to remain neutral and not do anything to antagonise Germany, which at that time was even replacing the armaments that Sweden had sent to the Finns.


Many British civilians sympathised with the plight of Finland:




January 1 1940


Can 1940 bring us the blessing of just a European peace? The year starts with Finland battling against Russia in a most extraordinary manner. After a whole month the Russians have scarcely gained anything except the disgust of the world.12





Debate within the Cabinet continued for over a week, stoked by regular papers from the Chiefs of Staff. At the War Cabinet of 12 January 1940 it was decided that no action would be taken, to Churchill’s apparently visible anger. This frustration was further evident in his radio broadcast to the nation on 20 January, when Churchill was critical of the neutral European countries that expected to remain free while not contributing to the war and leaving Britain and France to fight for them. Lord Halifax did not appreciate having to weather the subsequent negative diplomatic reactions from Denmark, Holland, Switzerland and Norway and instructed Churchill not to make any more foreign policy speeches without first referring the speech to him.13 Another Scandinavian paper was written by the Chiefs of Staff with much subsequent discussion and the French General Gamelin then advised the Secretary of State that France wished to mount an expedition to Scandinavia to support Finland, causing several more days to be lost in devising plans for such an operation.


Finally, at the Supreme War Council of 5 February, it was decided to send troops to aid Finland via Norway regardless of the consequences, provided Finland sent an appeal for help. This was confirmed at the War Cabinet meeting of 7 February and British troops earmarked for the operation began to assemble at various ports. This operation would not only provide military support to Finland but would also gain control of the iron ore mines, thus killing two birds with one stone, as Chamberlain put it to Édouard Daladier, the French Prime Minister.


Churchill was then handed another public relations coup. Following the Graf Spee episode, the pocket battleship’s supply ship, the Altmark, which was believed to be carrying British prisoners (crews of merchant ships sunk by the Graf Spee), was spotted in Norwegian territorial waters on 16 February by a British destroyer. At the request of the British, the Altmark was challenged and searched three times by officers from its escort of Norwegian motor torpedo boats. The British destroyer HMS Cossack then tried to intercept the Altmark, which was forced to take refuge in a fjord, protected by the torpedo boats, which trained their torpedo tubes on the destroyer. Churchill, with Halifax’s approval, personally ordered crew from HMS Cossack to board the Altmark and to return any fire from the Norwegians. The boarding action next day was successful and 299 seamen were liberated. Churchill’s bold action was lauded across the country and by the King himself in a congratulatory message.


The plans for landing British and French troops in Norway continued to be developed but not until 17 February did the Chiefs of Staff offer 20 March as the earliest date for the operation, provided the green light was given by the War Cabinet no later than 11 March. Norway and Sweden were, however, still not supportive of any direct action to assist Finland or of regular foreign troops traversing their territories to fight in Finland against Russia.


Meanwhile, throughout these weeks of deliberations, the Finns had been battling the Russians and despite inflicting heavy casualties were slowly being pushed back from the Mannerheim Line by sheer weight of numbers. Finland made belated demands to the Allies for 50,000 men and 100 bombers, which were impossible to provide from the relatively weak resources then available. As the military situation in Finland worsened, peace negotiations began on 12 February, although fighting continued around Vyborg. On 4 March, the Chief of Staffs concluded that any Scandinavian operation to help Finland was by that time pointless because of the peace negotiations already in progress. A week later, the Chiefs of Staff changed their position again and decided that troops should be landed in Norway to stop the shipments of iron ore after all. This was approved by the War Cabinet on 12 March and thus, more than two months after such an operation was first discussed seriously, the debate came full circle and the first British offensive of the war would be to land troops in neutral Norway. This was more than six months after Churchill had first suggested the operation in September 1939. Next day, Finland signed a truce with Russia and was forced to cede more territory to Russia than had been originally demanded by Moscow.


Churchill meanwhile, ever keen to mount offensive action, came up with another scheme to drop mines in the River Rhine to disrupt river traffic and destroy bridges, but the French were also wary of possible German reprisals and did not immediately approve the plan.


Chamberlain, in view of the end of the Finnish–Russian Winter War, on 14 March then suspended plans for a landing altogether. In so doing, a possible war with Russia was avoided as British and French prevarication for two months before finally reaching a decision to take action in Scandinavia was overtaken by the ceasefire. Chamberlain had ordered a ‘standstill’ to the operation to consider the direct access Russia now had across Finland to Norway and Sweden. Once again, plans were placed on hold and the troops already assembled at various ports began to disperse. Finland expressed its disappointment that the proposed Allied support would have arrived too late and was inadequate anyway, while public opinion was of the view that Finland’s predicament could have been prevented if the Allies had acted more quickly and thoroughly.14 As a consequence of the Allied failure to act, the French government under Daladier collapsed and a new Prime Minister, Paul Reynaud, was appointed.


A report from Sweden on 26 March that Germany was concentrating troops for a possible invasion of Norway again stirred the Allies into action. At the British-French Supreme War Council meeting of 28 March, the mining of Norwegian territorial waters on 5 April was finally agreed, with mines to be dropped into the River Rhine the day after. Then, to Churchill’s astonishment, the new French government decided that the mining of the Rhine should be postponed for three months. Churchill flew to Paris to take up the matter directly with Reynaud and Daladier (now the Minister of Defence) but returned to London convinced by Daladier’s arguments that French factories were indeed vulnerable to German reprisals for the next three months until French air defences could be built up.


Following the Supreme War Council meeting, the War Cabinet decided a day later that plans contingent on possible German reactions to the mine laying should be devised, the Chiefs of Staff issuing orders for these plans on 31 March.15 As the plans were for a proposed response to German actions, they were dependent on receiving adequate warning of German intentions. The Chiefs of Staff believed on 4 April that they had such a warning system in place to enable a series of pre-emptive conditional landings to be made in Norway under what was then known as Plan R4.16


A special mine-laying naval force to lay two minefields sailed from England on 5 April, only for reports two days later of German naval forces converging on Norway to force the cancellation of the planned southern minefield; the northern minefield was laid as planned. By noon, it became clear that German naval forces were heading for Narvik. The Norwegian government was not informed until 8 April of the British minelaying action.


Using paratroops and assault troops carried by warships, the simultaneous occupation of Narvik, Trondheim, Oslo and Bergen and Stavanger was executed by six German divisions on 9 April 1940, achieving almost total surprise. After months of procrastination by the Allies, the Germans had finally beaten them to occupying Norway.


Hitler had not planned an invasion of Norway, although Admiral Raeder had been keen to see Norway occupied to construct submarine bases and to prevent the British from threatening the Baltic Sea, where Germany’s main naval bases were located. Although preliminary plans to occupy Norway were first drawn up in response to meetings between Hitler and the Norwegian National Union Party leader Quisling in December 1939, the decision to invade was only taken immediately following the Altmark incident, from which Hitler divined that Britain was ready to infringe Norwegian neutrality whenever it suited.17 From this, Hitler reasoned that the threat to German ore supplies over winter would be unreasonable. Given the intense diplomatic activity between Britain, Norway, Finland and Sweden, it is also possible that the Germans got wind of Allied intentions to land troops in Norway from a Nazi sympathiser. Churchill’s speeches and radio broadcasts about the misuse of Norwegian territorial waters that would not be tolerated forever also strongly hinted at possible future Allied actions. The public expressions of Allied support for Finland that could only be realised by land forces moving through Norway and Sweden also served to signal potential Allied plans to both the Germans and the Russians. The executive order for the invasion was signed on 1 March by Hitler with the first proposed date of the invasion being 20 March; because of ice in the Baltic the operation had to be postponed to 9 April.


Thus the German invasion of Norway was triggered directly by Churchill’s pursuit of the Altmark and indirectly by the poorly concealed intentions of the Allies. In his history of the Second World War, Churchill claims that the decision was taken in December 1939 after the talks between Hitler and Quisling.


Churchill’s workload was then increased significantly when he was appointed chairman of the Military Co-ordination Committee from 4 April in a War Cabinet reshuffle. Following the news of the German landings in Norway, the War Cabinet was thrown into a state of confusion. There were reports of many German warships on the move off the Norwegian coast but little information from Norway itself. In view of the numbers of German ships on the move, the British decided to wait until the naval situation was resolved before sending any troopships. Churchill immediately despatched as many ships as he could to the North Atlantic fearing a German naval breakout, including two cruisers at Rosyth with the troops of the 146th Brigade designated for operations in Norway already aboard. These troops were hurriedly offloaded but their equipment was not. When the brigade was subsequently re-embarked on different ships and then diverted to Namsos by Churchill (who had prior approval from the committee for this if the situation warranted it) it had no equipment as this had gone to Narvik.


Plans for landings that had been in existence for several weeks then had to be changed as new information was received as to which parts of Norway the Germans had occupied. The British and French had assumed their forces would be making unopposed landings in friendly Norwegian ports before any German invasion and accordingly ordinary merchant ships had been allocated to transport the force. The end result of these deliberations was a further delay of three days before the first troops left England.


Two infantry brigades, the 24th Guards and the 146th Brigade (from the 49th Division of territorial troops), were sent to Narvik on 12 April. Believing Narvik was unoccupied, the Narvik force was split by Churchill on 13 April with the 146th Brigade to go south to land at Namsos. The original plans to land troops at Stavanger and Bergen in the south of Norway were abandoned as they were already in German hands and alternative landings were planned at Namsos and Andalsnes, north and south of Trondheim. These diversionary landings were surprisingly successful and faced little opposition. The 146th Brigade got ashore at Namsos on 16 April (without its equipment) and two battalions of the 148th Brigade plus 600 marines at Andalsnes two days later. Narvik was subsequently found to be occupied by the Germans, and as the weather deteriorated a base for operations was made at Harsted, on an island offshore from Narvik. Two companies of Scots Guards were landed on the mainland to the north of Narvik near Sjovegan and a battalion of Irish Guards was landed on the opposite side of the fjord to Narvik in order to set up artillery positions to bombard Narvik. Further landings to capture Trondheim directly by the 15th Infantry Brigade (Hammer Force) were cancelled by the Chiefs of Staff on 19 April because of the risk to Royal Navy ships from the dominant Luftwaffe and the belief that Trondheim could be taken by the troops already landed.18 While the Navy and Army commanders at Narvik debated what to do and awaited reinforcements, the forces at Namsos and Andalsnes were directed to capture Trondheim in a pincer movement from the north and south. Having originally intended to occupy unopposed ports in southern Norway, these weak forces were given the new objectives of capturing German-occupied Trondheim as well as stopping the German northward advance to Narvik. Norwegian troops unsuccessfully battled German troops advancing from Oslo and the 148th Brigade troops at Lillehammer were also unable to halt them. With no air cover and little artillery, the poorly trained and equipped Territorial troops were pushed back towards Andalsnes.


Churchill did not help matters by setting up personal radio links to the naval Narvik force commander, Lord Cork, who was also having difficulties working with the Army force commander, General Macksey, in the traditional joint Army–Navy model of command. While Lord Cork was keen to begin operations to capture Narvik as soon as possible, Macksey felt that his orders were to make landings only if they were unopposed.19 Following the diversion of the 146th Brigade to Namsos, Macksey requested reinforcements for the Narvik operation, only to be told to ‘press on’ by the Chiefs of Staff following a note critical of Macksey from Churchill.20 After receiving details of the plan made by Lord Cork and Macksey for assaulting Narvik, Churchill was asked in the Military Co-ordination Committee meeting of 19 April to produce the relevant telegram so that it could be examined by the Admiralty and the War Office.21 Churchill took the lead on briefing the War Cabinet at most meetings as he was receiving copies of all signals from the Allied forces in Norway through the Admiralty and was very much in control of the Allied forces in Narvik through Lord Cork. The War Office went as far as to complain about the poor communications, reminding Churchill and the Air Ministry on 12 April that copies of all signals had to be forwarded to the War Office for the preparation of intelligence bulletins for the use of the Chiefs of Staff and the Military Co-ordination Committee.22


As a consequence of the disharmony between the Narvik force commanders, Lord Cork was put in overall command on 20 April by the War Office at Churchill’s specific request. Churchill claimed in the War Cabinet of 21 April that:




We had taken a risk with our eyes open, knowing that it was a very hazardous operation to throw lightly equipped forces ashore without proper maintenance facilities. This, however, had been the only way possible of bolstering up the Norwegians, and as a result of what we had done the Norwegians were still holding out.23





Macksey further incurred Churchill’s ire when he refused to use the Royal Navy ships to bombard the town of Narvik because of concerns about the civilian casualties. Churchill signalled Lord Cork on 22 April, ‘If this officer appears to be spreading a bad spirit through the higher ranks of the land force, do not hesitate to relieve him or place him under arrest.’


On 25 April, the War Cabinet approved Churchill’s suggestion of mining neutral Sweden’s territorial waters between Sweden and Denmark in a further attempt to hinder German iron ore shipments.


The piecemeal arrival of the 15th Brigade also failed to halt the Germans, who had complete air superiority after a squadron of Gladiator fighters deployed at a newly built temporary base at Lake Lesjaskog was destroyed on the ground the day after its arrival. There was no fuel at the base for the Gladiators to refuel and get airborne. Intermittent air cover for the British forces in Norway could only be provided by aircraft operating from the aircraft carriers HMS Ark Royal and Glorious.


The Military Co-ordination Committee on 26 April then did an about-turn and decided that even if Trondheim was captured, it would need strong air defences and the Royal Navy to maintain supplies in the face of German aerial dominance. Accordingly, plans to capture Trondheim were abandoned and preparations were authorised for the evacuation of the central Norway forces. The press would be briefed that the landings in central Norway were only a diversion for the real objective, which had been Narvik all along.24


The Andalsnes force, faced with its destruction or capture, was evacuated on the night of 30 April; the Namsos force, which had made no progress in its attempts to capture Trondheim even when reinforced by three battalions of French ski troops, was forced to do the same two days later. These two evacuations left no Allied troops to block the German advance northwards to Narvik to relieve their own troops in the town.


Narvik now became the focus of Allied plans as its capture had become of paramount political and military importance. Churchill advised the War Cabinet on 6 May of the repercussions of a defeat at Narvik:




It would show that our will to win and our fighting capacity were less than those of the enemy. The difficulties of the Germans in the Narvik operations were no less than our own, and if we accepted defeat without a bitter struggle, it would have a devastating effect on world opinion.25





General Claude Auchinleck was appointed as Commander-in-Chief of the Norwegian Expedition Force on 21 April and arrived in Narvik on 13 May to take overall command of the Allied forces. Auchinleck did not immediately meet with General Macksey, who was apparently ill. Auchinleck sent an appreciation of the situation on 16 May offering hope for a successful Allied attack on Narvik, but by 21 May the Chiefs of Staff had already raised the likelihood of a potential evacuation after the capture of Narvik because of the turn of events in France.26 Auchinleck’s reply held little prospect for success, indicating that it would be difficult to successfully carry out his orders without further reinforcements of anti-aircraft guns and aircraft.27


The Narvik forces were eventually reinforced by a French brigade of ski troops, a Foreign Legion brigade, two Norwegian Army brigades and a brigade of Polish troops. Britain had no more troops available and any further reinforcements would have had to come from units in France.


However, even as limited landings were made to the south to block the German advance of reinforcements to Narvik and the numbers of available British aircraft were built up, Auchinleck was ordered on 24 May to evacuate the Narvik forces. Auchinleck decided to launch the attack on Narvik anyway to ensure the destruction of the iron ore facilities and provide cover for the evacuation, which was not announced to the troops. The attack went ahead on 27 May and Narvik was finally captured within twenty-four hours. Six days later, the evacuation of the troops involved began, the last of which were embarked on 8 June. The French troops were evacuated as well as those Norwegians that wanted to go to England.


Of the Allied force, British casualties totalled 1,869 killed, wounded or missing with a further 2,500 casualties lost at sea in naval battles. The French lost 530 men killed, wounded or missing.28 The Norwegians had about 1,700 casualties, including 860 men killed plus 400 civilians. German casualties were similar.29


The whole operation can only be described as a fiasco. The initial plan was amateurish and entirely reactive in nature, handing the initiative to the Germans on the assumption that Anglo-French forces would have adequate advance warning of German moves and be landed before the arrival of the Germans. Insufficient numbers of British troops were landed, with the Allies sending brigades to fight the same number of German divisions. No proper air cover was planned or provided and the Luftwaffe was able to capitalise on its superiority when the weather permitted. Many of the British troops were poorly trained Territorials, all were poorly equipped for winter warfare and there was little in the way of artillery, anti-aircraft guns or armour to support them. Supply bases for each of the landings had to be built from scratch following the failure to capture the port of Trondheim and the distribution of supplies to units was hampered by a lack of suitable small craft and by German aircraft attacks. Churchill behaved like a Commander-in-Chief trying to co-ordinate the campaign rather than leaving it to the commanders on the ground, an example being his decision regarding the diversion of the 146th Brigade from Narvik to Namsos while its equipment went to Narvik, which only caused complete confusion. The Military Co-ordination Committee also made other poor decisions and was then forced to change them, such as the decision not to attack Trondheim after troops had already been landed, which only necessitated their subsequent evacuation.


While the Allied ground forces had been comprehensively defeated, substantial damage was inflicted on the German Navy. Their losses included ten destroyers lost or damaged plus two heavy cruisers and two light cruisers sunk, which represented a substantial portion of the entire Kriegsmarine. Two major ships, the Scharnhorst and Gneisenau, were damaged for the loss of the aircraft carrier HMS Glorious, which had been caught unescorted and was subsequently sunk by the Scharnhorst.


The port of Narvik was, however, badly damaged in the fighting. The ore-crushing plant was totally destroyed along with the loading facilities and wooden quays, which would take an estimated twelve months to rebuild; the Allies had succeeded in their objective of stopping the iron ore exports, albeit temporarily.30 As it was nearly summer, German shipments would continue by means of the usual warm weather route through the Gulf of Bothnia while the Narvik facilities were repaired.


One consequence of the invasion was that Britain lost Sweden as a source of iron ore. Germany took 70 per cent of Swedish iron ore and Britain took 13 per cent, which meant that the 700,000 tons of ore imported into Britain in 1939 now had to be found elsewhere. In fact, 10 per cent of all Britain’s imports came from Scandinavia – iron ore, butter, fish, bacon and eggs – and these were soon in short supply. A trade agreement struck between Britain and Sweden had attempted to fix exports of iron ore to Germany and Britain at 1938 levels but this was rendered redundant by the invasion.


A further consequence of the German invasion of Norway was the simultaneous occupation of Denmark. Again, this was not something planned by Hitler, but in order to mount air operations over Norway the Luftwaffe required the strategic airfield at Aalborg in northern Jutland. Denmark itself would also become, later in the war, the northernmost component of Germany’s air defence system. In response, British troops occupied bases in the Faroe Islands and Iceland.


Churchill’s chairmanship of the Military Co-ordination Committee during the Norwegian crisis in April proved to be so chaotic after only a week that Chamberlain was forced to resume the chair for three days from 16 April and occasionally later on, much to the relief of all, including Churchill himself who later sent a note to Chamberlain thanking him for stepping in. The note was also critical of the structure of the committee as having too many voices with no overall responsibility for the creation and direction of military policy, which was the sole preserve of the Prime Minister. The meetings had been characterised by clashes of personality between Churchill and the Chiefs of Staff and a ‘first class political row’ was brewing over the abortive plans to attack Trondheim.31 The War Cabinet had also complained to Chamberlain about not being kept informed and a lack of papers to consider on proposed operations.


Churchill himself would later describe the Norwegian campaign as ‘ramshackle’, but this was entirely due to its planning in which Churchill was heavily involved and the comment does not reflect well on the Allied soldiers and airmen who died in the campaign. Ambassador Kennedy recognised the part Churchill had played in the fiasco, in a telegram to Roosevelt: ‘Mr Churchill’s sun has been caused to set very rapidly by the situation in Norway, which some people are already characterising as the second Gallipoli.’32


As the Phoney War dragged on, more and more evacuees began to return to their homes. The main reason for this was that the feared German heavy air attacks had not developed, but another contributing factor was the decision by the government on 4 October 1939 to recover 6s of the weekly cost of evacuation billeting from all parents through the local councils.33 With the average weekly wage being only about £5, this was an expense that not many could afford. After only four months of war, 88 per cent of mothers, 86 per cent of pre-school children and nearly half the school children had returned home.34


Most people were convinced, however, that Britain was correct in standing up to Germany, as one English woman wrote to her American penfriend:




I think France and Britain are doing the right thing in trying to wipe out Nazism and all its horrors, don’t you? I wish your country would help us but I suppose it is wiser to keep out of the war.


We are fully prepared to meet Hitler and I am firmly convinced God is on our side as we are fighting a people who have been made to forsake him.35





During the Phoney War, RAF bomber planes flew missions over Germany and dropped propaganda leaflets rather than bombs:




September 28th 1940


Everyone is talking about the income tax but taking it very calmly, 7/6d in the pound! The Daily Telegraph reported that the pilot of one of our ‘leaflet planes’ reported back at headquarters two hours before he was due. His astonished Commanding Officer asked for an explanation. ‘Well Sir,’ the young officer replied, ‘I flew over enemy territory as instructed and tipped out the parcels over the side.’


‘Do you mean you threw them out still wrapped in their bundles?’ said the CO in an anxious voice.


‘Yes, Sir.’


‘Good God, man, you might have killed somebody!’36





Daily life in Britain was also becoming more difficult. On 28 October 1939, the Cabinet proposed that meat, sugar, butter and bacon be rationed.37 Rationing was then introduced once a system of ration books was in place from 11 November with initially just bacon and butter affected. With the reduction in merchant shipping and its wholesale conversion to carrying war material, the amount of fresh fruit reaching England dropped sharply. Oranges and bananas became a rarity, as did chocolate. Cigarettes and coking coal were also rationed:




January 17th 1941


Mother heard that her money which used to bring in 5% then 3½% is now 2%! Everyone is grumbling about their drop in income and no wonder and for what? Other direct effects of war are the rationing of food and petrol, increase in the cost of living (it’s gone up 12½% at least), unemployment amongst certain trades, especially among building and flower growing concerns in Worthing.38





Air raid precautions and the blackout were a new way of life that had to be got used to. Streetlights were turned off and getting about after dark could be hazardous for pedestrians and motor traffic alike. In the last four months of 1939, 4,133 people were killed on the roads compared with 2,497 people in the same period in 1938. In December alone there were 1,155 fatalities and the problem became so serious that limited dim street lighting was permitted in February 1940, when the speed limit for motor vehicles was also reduced to 20mph.39


Walls of sandbags had transformed the entrances to public buildings in the cities, while some shop owners boarded up their windows to leave only a small viewing window for shoppers in order to lessen potential injuries from flying glass.


Plans for limited conscription applying to single men aged between 20 and 22 were given Parliamentary approval in the Military Training Act in May 1939. This required men to undertake six months’ military training, and some 240,000 registered for service. It became difficult for people to plan their lives as the government legislated more and more for the war. Attendances at universities dropped and young people did not know whether to marry or not as they could be asked to relocate for essential war work or required to join the armed forces.


Another act of Parliament was necessary to increase the numbers of personnel in the armed forces. The National Service (Armed Forces) Act passed on 3 September 1939 made all able men between the ages of 18 and 41 liable for conscription; as part of the legislation it was decided that single men would be called up before married men. Men aged 20 to 23 were required to register on 21 October 1939 – the start of a long and drawn-out process of registration by age group which saw 40-year-olds only registering in June 1941. By the end of 1939, more than 1.5 million men had been conscripted to join the British armed forces. Of those, just over 1.1 million went to the British Army and the rest were split between the Royal Navy and the RAF. From January 1940, all men between the ages of 19 and 27 were to be progressively conscripted.


Before the Norwegian operation had concluded but after the first two evacuations of troops, Chamberlain faced a debate in the House of Commons on 7 May on the conduct of the war. With the troops still in Norway in a precarious position, the mood in the House was one of rebellion against Chamberlain after his failed promotion of peace at Munich and his ineffective leadership in the war so far. Churchill managed to avoid any censureship or responsibility for the Norwegian fiasco and spoke in support of Chamberlain, making no reference to his own part in the affair. A different spin on the evacuations was also offered by Churchill, who said that the British Army had been saved from having to defend the Norwegian coastline. Chamberlain’s government defeated the motion along party lines but the Prime Minister was mortally wounded; Chamberlain left the chamber with cries of ‘Go! Go! Go!’ ringing in his ears. Next day, 9 May, there was much coming and going at Downing Street as Chamberlain knew he could not continue as Prime Minister. There were only two candidates for the position, Churchill and Halifax. Churchill was by far the most popular choice both inside Parliament and outside, and, perhaps in view of this, Halifax was reluctant to press his case, citing the fact that as he was a member of the House of Lords he could not be an effective Prime Minister, as he did not come from the centre of power that was the House of Commons. The last Prime Minister to come from the House of Lords had been in 1902, and following the 1909 Parliament Act the balance of power had shifted further to the House of Commons as the House of Lords could no longer veto any proposed legislation. Chamberlain believed this was not an insurmountable problem but Halifax would have had to renounce his seat in the House of Lords and stand for election in the lower house, which would have taken time. This meant there was only one genuine candidate for the position of Prime Minister – Churchill. Later that afternoon, Chamberlain attempted to form a National Coalition government but the Labour Party was lukewarm and deferred the decision to its National Executive Committee, which happened to be gathering in Bournemouth that weekend for its annual conference. Churchill and his supporters that evening were very confident of forming a government the next day, and with good reason.


Churchill later wrote in his history of the conclusion to the Norwegian debacle, ‘Failure at Trondheim, Stalemate at Narvik … Considering the prominent part I played in these events … it was a marvel that I survived and maintained my position in public esteem and parliamentary confidence.’40


While this reflection is poignant and honest, only the War Cabinet and a few generals knew the full extent of Churchill’s involvement with Norway and the trigger for the invasion of Norway, the Altmark incident, would not become clear until after the war.




3


FALL OF FRANCE


At dawn on Friday 10 May 1940, the Phoney War came to a sudden end when German paratroops landed in Holland and Army units crossed the frontiers from Germany into Holland, Belgium and Luxembourg. The attack was not that unexpected as both sides had observed the build-up of each other’s forces along their common borders for many months, during which there had been several false invasion alarms.


The situation was confused for most of the day with little accurate information coming from the Continent. In London that day, the Military Co-ordination Committee met twice and the War Cabinet three times, and only at its third meeting did the War Cabinet consider the unresolved political issue of government and who was to lead the nation. The Labour Party leadership had met that afternoon and at 5 p.m. telephoned to confirm its decision that the party would support a National Coalition, but refused to serve under any government led by Chamberlain. Halifax, still concerned about being a member of the House of Lords, refused to be nominated for the position of Prime Minister, which he believed would rapidly become untenable if Churchill was Minister of Defence at the same time. Chamberlain promptly went to Buckingham Palace to resign and offer King George VI his recommendation as to his successor. At 6 p.m., Churchill was summoned to see the King and duly became Britain’s Prime Minister at the age of 65. Churchill was not the first choice of King George because of his previous support for Edward VIII and Mrs Simpson in 1936, and the Halifaxes were frequent visitors to Buckingham Palace. However, through their regular meetings during the war, the two men eventually came to respect one another.


On the return journey to the Admiralty, Churchill was apparently more pensive than usual and said to his bodyguard, Inspector Thompson, ‘God alone knows how great it is. I hope it is not too late. I am very much afraid that it is. But we can only do our best, and give the rest of what we have …’1


Churchill spent a hectic evening making Cabinet appointments and receiving congratulations from well-wishers. One of those to telephone was the American Ambassador, Kennedy, who joked about being partly responsible for helping Churchill become Prime Minister after Roosevelt (code name Eunice) had approved Churchill’s decision to mine Norwegian territorial waters: ‘Eunice went to the party. Hence Norway, hence Prime Minister.’2


In reply, Churchill grumbled that Eunice should have gone to the party three months earlier and Kennedy retorted that ‘she’ had been willing to.3


Churchill finally went to bed in the early hours of the morning a very contented man, despite Europe being once again embroiled in war:




I was conscious of a sound sense of relief. At last I had the authority to preside over the whole scene. I felt as if I was walking with destiny, and that all my past life had been but a preparation for this hour and for this trial. Eleven years in the political wilderness had freed me from ordinary Party antagonisms. My warning over the last six years had been so numerous, so detailed and were now so terribly vindicated that no-one could gainsay me. I could not be reproached either for making the war or with want of preparation for it. I thought I knew a good deal about it all, and I was sure I should not fail. Therefore although impatient for the morning, I slept soundly and had no need for cheering dreams.4





Churchill had a lifelong fascination with the military and history. He had played with soldiers as a child, had joined the Army cadets at Harrow and went to Sandhurst Military College at the age of 19 before a short spell in the Army. In 1900, Churchill began a career in politics when elected as MP for Oldham for the Conservatives, which ended with his dismissal as First Lord of the Admiralty in a Liberal government after the Dardanelles campaign of 1915. As a form of self-imposed penance, Churchill had himself put on the Army’s active list and served in the trenches of Flanders for just over five months in 1916. Widely read, an experienced politician and an avid student of the strategies and tactics of the great battles of history, Churchill believed he was uniquely qualified to lead the British Isles in a time of war.


Although Churchill’s appointment as Prime Minister was not initially welcomed by many of his political colleagues, he did enjoy widespread public support. Churchill was greeted by cheering crowds outside Downing Street and his appointment was celebrated in a famous political cartoon ‘All behind you, Winston’, published in the Evening Standard newspaper on 14 May, although only Cabinet members were depicted in the cartoon and the ordinary people were just a faceless mob in the background.


In his diary, however, the Foreign Office Permanent Undersecretary, Lord Cadogan, said he was not at all sure of Winston.5 Lord Davidson, in a letter to Baldwin, said that the Tories did not trust Winston and that after the first clash of war had passed it may well be that a sounder government may emerge. Other civil servants in Whitehall were not enthused either, believing Winston would be a complete failure and that Neville would return.6 Halifax, Churchill’s only rival candidate, later wrote, ‘I don’t think WSC will be a very good PM though … the country will think he gives them a fillip.’7


One British housewife, however, was more impressed by Churchill becoming Prime Minister and recorded in her diary:




If I had to spend my whole life with a man, I’d choose Mr Chamberlain but I think I’d sooner have Mr Churchill if there was a storm and I was shipwrecked.8





A number of people greeted Churchill enthusiastically two days later on a walk from Downing Street to the Admiralty and on reaching the building, Churchill apparently dissolved into tears. ‘Poor people,’ he said. ‘They trust me and I can give them nothing but disaster for quite a long time.’9


Three days later, Churchill told the House of Commons in his first speech as Prime Minister that he had no policy or strategy for the defeat of Germany and ‘nothing to offer but blood, toil, tears and sweat’, declaring that the British aim was:




Victory. Victory at all costs. Victory in spite of all terror. Victory, however long and hard the road may be, for without victory there is no survival.





Chamberlain was given a hero’s welcome in the House, while the reception for Churchill was far more reserved. Unfazed by this, Churchill immediately plunged himself into the business of running and winning the war. As well as selecting a new War Cabinet, Churchill created a new Defence Committee in place of the previous Military Co-ordination Committee with himself as head and the Minister of Defence. This streamlined the strategic decision-making process but left the responsibility for strategic thinking solely with Churchill. The Defence Committee had two levels, one for Operations and the other for Supply matters, and Churchill presided over both. The Chiefs of Staff Committee, where the strategies for war were drawn up and evaluated, reported to the Defence Committee and Churchill through Lord Ismay, Churchill’s Chief of Staff. Ismay and a small secretarial staff had previously reported to Churchill as the chairman of the Military Co-ordination Committee and this was maintained in the new structure.


In May 1940 the Chiefs of Staff were:


Chief Imperial General Staff (CIGS) – General Edmund Ironside


Chief of Air Staff – Air Chief Marshal Sir Cyril Newall (and Chairman)


Admiral of the Fleet – Sir Dudley Pound


At the end of the month Churchill replaced Ironside with Sir John Dill. Responsible for the day-to-day direction of the war, the Chiefs of Staff took a largely passive role in terms of overall strategy development, directing the activities of the Joint Planning Staff and evaluating plans from commanders in the field largely as directed by Churchill, who was almost the single source of strategic ideas for the conduct of the war. The Chiefs of Staff saw their role as supporting their political masters; the actions of the armed forces were the ultimate extension of international politics and therefore the Chiefs of Staff left politics to the Foreign office and Churchill. As the war progressed, both the Defence Committee and the War Cabinet were consulted less and less, being only involved in the approval of major operations and contributing very little in the way of strategic ideas or discussion.


On the European Continent, the Allied armies had amassed 135 divisions in the field as follows:






	Belgium


	22







	Holland


	  8







	Britain


	10







	Poland


	  1







	France


	9410








While the French Army was the largest of the Allies, only sixty-seven of the divisions deployed were regular infantry, the balance being static fortress divisions manning the Maginot Line of defences along the border with Germany. The Allied armies were all at different states of training and readiness, for example only five divisions of the British Expeditionary Force (BEF) were regular troops, the other five being part-time Territorials. The divisions suffered from a shortage of anti-aircraft guns and artillery as production in Britain was still in a transition to a war footing and many units did not have their full establishment of other equipment. The Allies also had problems of command and control because of the many different languages spoken by the various Army generals.


The Germans, for their part, had eighty-nine divisions deployed in three army groups as follows:


Army Group B 28 divisions (including 3 Armoured and 1 motorised) (von Bock)


Army Group A 44 divisions (including 7 Armoured and 3 motorised) Luxembourg Ardennes (von Rundstedt)


Army Group C 17 divisions


Additionally, the German Army command, OKH, had a further forty-five divisions in reserve. In order not to antagonise the Germans, the Belgians had not permitted any foreign troops to enter their country. Therefore with the invasion of Belgium on 10 May, the BEF, which had been in prepared positions in France since the end of 1939, immediately advanced into Belgium to the proposed line of defence along the River Dyle, to which the Belgians were expected to fall back. Unfortunately this was exactly as the Germans had predicted, and as the British troops moved forward in the north, the Panzer divisions of Army Group A further south struck on 11 May from the reoccupied Rhineland through the Ardennes and straight at the junction of the French First and Second Army Groups, bypassing the Maginot Line of fortresses with the objective of cutting the Allied armies in two. By 13 May, the German Panzer divisions had crossed the River Meuse between Sedan and Dinant and established bridgeheads on the opposite bank.


That day, the French Prime Minister, Reynaud, appealed to the British for more fighter aircraft to combat the German air superiority. In view of the numbers of German aircraft, this was not unreasonable, given that the French had put into the field the bulk of the Allied infantry and armour resisting the Germans. However, the War Cabinet declined to send any more aircraft in order to not weaken its own fighter and bomber forces. With rearmament programmes still in progress, the Chief of Air Staff said that Britain required sixty squadrons for its own defence and only had thirty-nine at that point in time, ten already being in France.


The main point of German attack was not yet apparent to the Allies, who suffered a further blow when Dutch resistance ended on 14 May, allowing the Germans to quickly occupy the rest of Holland and concentrate more forces against Belgium and the BEF. The BEF did not reach the line at the River Dyle until that day and found the planned defences either unfinished or non-existent. With the collapse of Holland, there was little time to prepare new defensive positions before the Germans attacked. Reynaud asked for ten more British fighter squadrons on 14 May and next day expressed panic in a telephone call to Churchill when the Germans broke through at Sedan.11


The two French armies at the Ardennes directly in the path of the Germans, the 2nd and 9th Armies, were of low-grade troops as the French thought the Ardennes were impassable to wheeled vehicles. Two French armoured divisions were rushed to the area to mount a counter-attack but these were delayed by a lack of fuel and the roads being clogged by fleeing civilians. The 2nd Army directly in the path of the Germans began to disintegrate under concentrated air attacks and fell back southwards towards the Maginot Line, leaving a 10-mile gap in the French front line. The 9th Army received permission to fall back as well and this opened the flood gates to the German advance. On 15 May, the German armoured and infantry divisions began to exploit a gap nearly 40 miles wide and drive for the coast of northern France. At the point of the attack by the Panzer divisions were Luftwaffe dive-bombers, which knocked out strongpoints and acted as mobile artillery. Heavier bombers in turn pounded the rear areas and communications of the French divisions, causing co-ordination difficulties and morale to plummet. The Allies, particularly the French, had been expecting a static battle to quickly develop and the rapid advances of tanks supported by aircraft came as a devastating shock. While the French possessed almost as many tanks as the Germans, they were dispersed throughout the infantry divisions and could not be concentrated for an attack.


Following a suggestion from the British Ambassador in France looking at the acquisition of obsolete destroyers for France, Churchill on 15 May sent a telegram to Roosevelt (his first as Prime Minister) asking for the loan of fifty destroyers that he knew had been mothballed by the US Navy at the end of the First World War. In addition, Churchill asked for new aircraft already on order to be supplied from existing US stocks rather than having to wait for them to be built. Supplies of steel were also requested as stocks of iron ore were depleted following the Norwegian venture. Churchill’s last request in his telegram was regarding the Japanese: ‘Sixthly, I am looking to you to keep that Japanese dog quiet in the Pacific, using Singapore in any way convenient.’12


On 16 May, the War Cabinet agreed at a morning meeting to send to France four additional fighter squadrons in eight flights or half squadrons.13 Churchill then flew to Paris to see for himself what was happening as the decision by French forces to withdraw when their lines had been penetrated by a reported mere 120 German tanks seemed unacceptable to him. In Paris, Churchill found the French government largely defeatist and civil servants already burning secret papers. The French blamed a lack of British fighter aircraft to protect their troops from the German dive-bombers while they were trying to engage the attacking German tanks, so Churchill agreed to provide extra fighter cover over France.


In England, Air Chief Marshal Dowding was horrified at what he saw as the frittering away of the RAF squadrons in France. Dowding wrote a ten-point memorandum to the Chief of Air Staff, Newall, pointing out that a revised minimum of fifty-two squadrons were required for the defence of Britain and he was now reduced to just thirty-six squadrons. Nevertheless, on Churchill’s return from France, the War Cabinet agreed later that night to a further six squadrons, based in England, to be rotated for operations in France with three squadrons in the morning and three in the afternoon. That night, the BEF began to withdraw in a movement that continued until the line of the River Escaut was reached on the night of 18–19 May. The need for this withdrawal was blamed by the BEF’s commander, Lord Gort, on the collapse of the French 1st Army on their right under General Blanchard.14 This movement by the BEF exposed the Belgian Army on their left, which had no option but to conform to the movements of the British, and this greatly unsettled them.


On 17 May, Roosevelt declined to supply Britain with any destroyers on the grounds that the approval of this loan would require the authorisation of Congress and Roosevelt was reluctant to press the issue ‘at this moment’. The message was delivered by Kennedy, who explained that Roosevelt could not ‘go ahead of his public’. Kennedy had been pro-Chamberlain and was not a supporter of Churchill. Kennedy had written in his diary on 15 May:
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